University of Tennessee at Chattanooga

# **UTC Scholar**

Honors Theses

Student Research, Creative Works, and Publications

5-2019

# Exploring the potential for rare and common Borodinia species to acclimate to change

Garrett Allen University of Tennessee at Chattanooga, dfv894@mocs.utc.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.utc.edu/honors-theses

Part of the Environmental Sciences Commons

# **Recommended Citation**

Allen, Garrett, "Exploring the potential for rare and common Borodinia species to acclimate to change" (2019). *Honors Theses.* 

This Theses is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Research, Creative Works, and Publications at UTC Scholar. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of UTC Scholar. For more information, please contact scholar@utc.edu.

# Exploring the Potential for Rare and Common Borodinia Species to Acclimate to Change

Garrett Allen

Departmental Honors Thesis The University of Tennessee at Chattanooga Biology, Geology and Environmental Science

Examination Date: April 8, 2019

Dr. Jennifer Boyd Associate Professor; Associate Department Head Biology, Geology and Environmental Science Thesis Director

Dr. David Aborn Associate Professor Biology, Geology and Environmental Science Department Examiner

Dr. Hope Klug UC Foundation Associate Professor; Interim Department Head Biology, Geology and Environmental Science Department Examiner

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract1	
Introduction	1
Methods	
Seed Collection and Plant Propagation5	,
Environmental Treatments	)
Growth and Physiological Measurements7	,
Data Analyses7	,
Results	)
Growth and Allocation of Rare and Common <i>Borodinia</i> Species	;
Differences in Plasticity between the Rare and Common Species	)
Discussion9	)
Comparison of <i>Borodinia</i> Species	)
Plasticity in Rare vs. Common Species11	
Conservation Implications12	1
Future Directions	;
Acknowledgements	
References	!
Tables	)
Figures	

#### Abstract

An important ecological question that remains unanswered is why some species are rare while others are common. Because the natural world is dynamic, in order to persist, species must successfully respond to the environmental changes they experience. The ability to be plastic may be especially important to the survival of species in the face of rapid environmental change because such quick change does not offer species time to migrate or adapt. Consequently, differential plasticity between rare and common species, with rare species possessing less plasticity than common species, could help explain the differing successes of persisting in a large geographic distribution. Here, I used a comparative trait-based approach to assess the ability of a rare and common congeneric species pair to acclimate to environmental change with a focus on growth measures. Specifically, I evaluated the growth and plasticity of rare Borodinia perstellata and common B. laevigata to altered light, water, and temperature conditions in environmentally controlled growth chambers. I found that both species respond similarly to different environmental conditions and have similar plasticity, but some of my results suggest that the rare Borodinia perstellata could be generally less plastic than the common Borodinia laevigata. Specifically, B. laevigata possessed greater plasticity to grow taller and more leaves in both the altered water and temperature conditions while B. perstellata only contained greater plasticity for growing more shoot mass in the light condition. Since the common B. laevigata was found to be more plastic across a wider range of environmental differences than the rare Borodinia perstellata, the hypothesis that differential plasticity can help explain species rarity and commonness is limitedly supported, but further research should be conducted to confirm the hypothesis.

#### Introduction

The question of why some species are rare while others are common is important for advancing ecological theory and guiding rare species preservation efforts (Bevill & Louda 1999). This question has been addressed in the past (Bevil & Louda 1999, Murray et al. 2002, Comita et al. 2010, Preston 1962), but still does not have a definitive answer (May 1999). Rarity is defined as the differential relative abundance of species (Rabinowitz et al. 1986). Invasive species are an extreme example of high relative abundance (Van Clef & Stiles 2001) and have been extensively studied given their ecological and economic harm (Colautti & MacIsaac 2004, see reviews by: Katsanevakis et al. 2014, Vilá et al. 2011). One prevalent method utilized by researchers to understand invasiveness involves comparing traits of invasive versus non-invasive species (see reviews by Daehler 2003, Pyŝek & Richardson 2007, see meta-analysis by Van Kleunen et al. 2010), and this approach has been useful in revealing biological characteristics of species invasiveness including the increased growth rate and leaf area allocation found in invasive species (Pyŝek & Richardson 2007, Van Kleunen et al. 2010). Despite the utility of comparative research within the context of species invasiveness, less research has compared species traits toward elucidating the basis of species rarity (see review by: Murray et al. 2002). This could possibly be explained by the fact that rare species are more sparse, making research on them more difficult.

While comparing species' traits can be utilized to understand factors that influence species rarity (see Albert et al. 2011, Kunin & Gaston 1997), comparative studies of traits between congeneric pairs of rare and common species could be especially insightful by minimizing the effects of differing phylogenies or life histories (see review by: Murray et al. 2002). Since comparative studies of traits concerning species rarity, in general, have been limited in the past, comparative studies of traits of congeneric pairs have been even more limited (see reviews by Bevil & Louda 1999, Murray et al. 2002). It would, therefore, be beneficial for more congeneric comparative trait studies of rare and common species to be conducted to help in the understanding of the underlying reason for species rarity and commonness.

Plasticity, which has become increasingly dynamic due to human influences (Williams et al. 2008), would be a particularly interesting trait to compare between rare and common congeneric plant species. Mainly, plasticity could help explain their differing geographical ranges as a wider geographic range generally equates to a broader ability to acclimate to environmental differences (Brown 1984, Futuyma & Moreno 1988). Additionally, plants are largely sedentary, which means their persistence could depend on their ability to acclimate to the changing environmental conditions around them (Bradshaw 2006, Sultan 2000) and that is why plants have relatively high levels of trait plasticity (Sultan 2000). Even when plants do migrate through their seeds, this is not an effective response for rare species as they tend to produce fewer seeds than more common species (Lavergne et al. 2004), indicating that plasticity is still an important trait to be studied. In addition, there seems to be a positive correlation between species invasiveness and plasticity (Ruprecht et al. 2014), which suggests that plasticity plays a role in species rarity and commonness. Despite all this, research concerning the influence of trait plasticity on species rarity has been limited in the past (see review by Murray et al. 2002) and continues to be limited, with mainly studies that have altogether produced mixed results (Pohlman et al. 2005, Marchin et al. 2009, Lovell & McKay 2015).

Studying species rarity is especially relevant in the southeastern United States, given its relatively large number of endemic plant species (Delcourt & Delcourt 1991). About 500 plant species that are new to science were named in the past 50 years and many of them were

southeastern endemics (A. Weakley, Director of University of North Carolina Herbarium, pers. comm. July 2016). In addition, Georgia, Florida, and Alabama are in the top ten states in the U.S. with the highest number of vascular plant species and the highest percentage of plants at risk of extinction (Stein et al. 2000). Furthermore, Florida ranks third for the most endangered species, Alabama ranks fourth, and Tennessee ranks sixth (USFWS 2019).

*Borodinia* (which includes species formerly classified as *Boechera* and/or *Arabis*) is a plant genus found throughout the United States including several species found within the southeastern United States. *Borodinia perstellata* is one such species that occurs sparsely in the southeastern United States within a few counties in Tennessee and Kentucky (Kartesz 2015) and is currently listed as federally endangered (USFWS 1997). *Borodinia laevigata* is another species found within the southeastern United States but is much more commonly distributed, being found in many counties in the southeastern, northeastern, and central United States (Kartesz 2015). These two congeneric species allow me to complete a congeneric comparative study of the traits associated with species rarity and commonness. The main threats to *B. perstellata* have been identified as grazing from wildlife and the habitat loss due to the development of roads and homes (USFWS 1995). By studying the ability of *B. perstellata* to acclimate to different environmental treatments, I hope to elucidate the potential role of plasticity in species rarity, while also aiding in the continued conservation efforts of this species.

To accomplish these aims, I conducted an experiment as part of a larger NSF funded project comparing multiple congeneric rare-common species pairs. My project utilized controlled-environment growth chambers to compare the performance and plasticity of rare *B*. *perstellata* and common *B. laevigata* in response to changes in environmental conditions that are associated with current habitat threats in the southeastern U.S. I focused on growth and biomass allocation measures and phenotypic plasticity. I hypothesize that the rare *B. perstellata* is less plastic than the more common *B. laevigata*. Such reduced plasticity could help to explain why *B. perstellata* has a smaller geographic range than the common congener and why its populations are experiencing contemporary decline in the face of habitat disturbance.

#### Methods

## **Seed Collection and Plant Propagation**

Seeds from four naturally occurring populations of *B. perstellata and* three naturally occurring populations of *B. leavigata* were collected during summer 2018. The four populations of *B. perstellata* were collected from private property in DeKalb County and Rutherford County, TN and Rutherford County and Jefferson County, KY. The three populations of B. laevigata were collected from Cheatham County, TN, Cook County, IL, and Clarion County, PA. The seeds were collected in early to late summer 2018 and then stored in paper envelopes in a refrigerator until planting in October 2018. To standardize methods across all species pairs treatments for the project funded by NSF, historical weather data for the first *Pityopsis* congeneric experiment was altered to reflect the ambient conditions found in the natural environment of both *B. perstellata* and *B. laevigata* (CustomWeather Inc. 2019). Prior to planting, the four controlled-environment growth chambers (PGR15, Conviron, Winnipeg, MB, Canada) were then programmed to these ambient conditions for both species to facilitate germination. These ambient conditions included a 20 °C/30 °C night/day cycle and a cycle of light with 250  $\mu$ mol photons m<sup>2</sup> s<sup>4</sup> as the midday. The seeds were planted in ~10-cm diameter x 9-cm deep plastic plots containing a commercially available potting medium (Pro-Mix BX Biofungicide + Mycorrhizae, Premier Tech Horticulture, Riviére-du-loup, QC, Canada). We planted multiple seeds from each of 12 parent plants from each population of each species in

each of four pots. The four pots of seeds from each parent plant were then divided among the four chambers such that one offspring of each parent plant was in each chamber. Pots were watered to saturation daily for the first few weeks, and then every other day as needed. We rotated the positions of the pots twice a week to account for any differences in their microclimate.

#### **Environmental Treatments**

Four weeks after the first plant germinated, we initiated environmental treatments in the growth chambers. One chamber continued to provide the conditions used during the germination period; this chamber served as the 'ambient' chamber in my experimental design. The three other chambers were programmed to each provide conditions similar to those in the ambient chamber but with a contrasting level of a single treatment (light, temperature, or water availability). The 'light' chamber was set to provide double the ambient daytime light level (i.e., 500 µmol photons  $m^2 s^4 vs. 250 \mu mol photons m^2 s^4$ ) to imitate increased light that would occur due to deforestation. The 'temperature' chamber was set to provide maximum daytime and nighttime temperatures that were 2°C warmer than those in the ambient chamber (22 °C/32 °C vs. 20 °C/30 °C night/day) to replicate predicted climate change in the southeastern US by the end of this century (Stocker et al. 2013). The water chamber was watered twice the amount as the ambient chamber (100% field capacity vs. 50% field capacity) every other day to provide more of that limited resource to the species pair as the species are typically found in dry, rocky soil (USFWS) 1997, Bloom et al. 2001). The pots continued to be rotated around in the chambers every other day to control for possible spatial differences in the microclimate. Additionally, I randomly reassigned the treatment levels of each chamber each month and the plants were moved accordingly to reduce any effects of chamber and pseudoreplication (Gibson 2014).

# **Growth and Physiological Measurements**

To assess the growth response and plasticity of each species to each environmental treatment, I focused on growth metrics. Before treatments were initiated, I determined the number of days after planting that each plant germinated and developed its first true leaf (i.e., non-cotyledon) to observe if there were any species or population differences in germination and establishment rate. After treatments were initiated, I measured the stem height and counted the number of leaves of each plant biweekly for 14 w to assess the influence of the environmental treatments on growth. To assess the final impacts the environmental treatments had on plant growth, I harvested plants after the 15th week of growth. Whole plants were sorted into shoots (leaves and stems) and roots and placed in a 40 °C oven for 1 w. The roots and shoots of each plant individual were then weighed to yield shoot mass, root mass, and total biomass of each individual.

#### **Data Analyses**

To examine biomass allocation, I calculated root:shoot biomass, the shoot mass fraction (shoot mass:total biomass), and the root mass fraction (root mass:total biomass) for each individual. I determined plasticity as the response coefficient (RC), which is the ratio of the mean values at greater and lesser resource availabilities for each individual (Valladares et al. 2006). Significant differences in trait values and biomass allocation between ambient and altered environmental conditions for each species were determined with one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the environment treatment as the independent variable. Differences in plasticity between the two species were similarly determined with one-way ANOVA with species as the independent variable. Results of all statistical tests were considered significant if  $p \le 0.05$  and

marginally significant if  $p \le 0.1$ . All statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics Version 25 software (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY).

#### Results

#### Growth and Allocation of Rare and Common Borodinia Species

There were significant differences in many of the mean growth metrics between the ambient chamber and the various environmental treatment chambers (Figs. 1-3). Specifically, individuals of both species were shorter ( $p \le 0.01$  for *B. perstellata;* p = 0.020 for *B. laevigata*) and produced fewer leaves ( $p \le 0.01$  for *B. perstellata;* p = 0.027 for *B. laevigata*) on average when grown in high vs. ambient light; however, their total biomass did not differ between light treatment levels (Fig. 1). In contrast, both species grew taller ( $p \le 0.01$ , p = 0.022 for *B. perstellata;*  $p \le 0.01$ ,  $p \le 0.01$  for *B. laevigata*) and produced significantly more total biomass (p = 0.028, p = 0.016 for *B. perstellata;* p = 0.01, p = 0.049 for *B. laevigata*) when grown with higher water and temperature availability than in ambient conditions (Fig. 2-3). However, only *B. laevigata* individuals produced more leaves when grown with more water availability ( $p \le 0.01$ ) and greater temperature ( $p \le 0.01$ ) than in ambient conditions (Fig. 2-3).

There were also some significant differences in the biomass allocation of both species between ambient and altered water and temperature availability, but biomass allocation was not affected by light availability in either species (Table 1). When grown with more water, both species significantly allocated more biomass to the shoots (i.e., had greater root:shoot mass) than they did in ambient conditions (p = 0.013 for *B. perstellata; p* = 0.013 for *B. laevigata*). However, only *B. laevigata* biomass allocation was influenced by increased temperature. Specifically, *B. laevigata* individuals had greater shoot fraction when grown in warmer conditions than in ambient temperature ( $p \le 0.01$ ; Table 1).

#### **Differences in Plasticity between the Rare and Common Species**

There were minimal significant differences in plasticity of the rare and common *Borodinia* species for trait values and biomass allocation measures. In response to light availability, *B. perstellata* had marginally greater plasticity of shoot weight than did *B. laevigata*. Specifically, the plasticity of this trait of *B. perstellata* was more than double that of *B. laevigata*. However, there were no other differences in plasticity of the two species in response to light availability (see Table 2). In contrast, *B. laevigata* exhibited greater plasticity of stem height and number of leaves than did *B. perstellata* in response to both temperature and water availability. Specifically, in response to temperature availability, the plasticity of stem height of *B. laevigata* was approximately double that of *B. perstellata*, while the plasticity of the number of leaves produced per individual was 50% greater in *B. laevigata* than *B. perstellata* was approximately 50% greater than that of *B. perstellata*, while the plasticity of number of leaves produced per individual was about 65% greater in *B. laevigata* than *B. perstellata* (Table 2).

#### Discussion

#### Comparison of Borodinia Species

In response to increased light, both species significantly decreased in height and decreased their leaf number, while preserving equal levels of total biomass and biomass allocation. This decrease in height and leaf growth for *B. perstellata* and *B. laevigata* could be explained by the notion that it is common for stem elongation to occur in low-light conditions, like in the ambient environment, because the limitation of light leads to plants putting more

energy into aboveground biomass to help capture light (Kende & Lang 1964). When *B. perstellata* and *B. laevigata* were in the high light environment, they may not have allocated as much energy into stem growth and leaf production since light was not limited. *B. perstellata* also has a reported intolerance to high light availability (USFWS 1997) and this could possibly explain the reason this species grew more purple leaves in the high light treatment than in ambient conditions. The similar findings for *B. laevigata* suggest that this species may also share this intolerance to high light availability.

Increased water was associated with increased stem height and total biomass in both species, but only *B. laevigata* also produced more leaves with greater water availability. Additionally, both species had a significant decrease in root:shoot ratio and root fraction but a significant increase in shoot fraction, indicating that the species were allocating more biomass into shoots when receiving more water. Just as increased light caused the plants to shorten because the light was no longer limiting, increased water meant that the plants did not have to expend as much energy on root biomass production. With high water, the plants did not have to grow as much root material to search for water and could instead focus more on growing aboveground biomass, which is typical in plant species (see review by: Poorter & Nagel 2000). Since *B. laevigata* was better able to grow leaves in this high-water environment, this seems to suggest that this species would be better able to capture light than *B. perstellata* in environmental conditions with increased soil moisture.

With a greater temperature, both species grew taller and had significantly more biomass than the ambient chamber. Since growth in plants is controlled by enzymatic reactions, an increased temperature can help increase growth rate as long as the temperature is not high enough to denature the enzymes found within the individual plants (Went 1953). My results suggest that the increase in temperature may have enhanced photosynthetic reactions of *B. perstellata* and *B. laevigata*, which helped the two species produce more energy for growth. Once again, only *B. laevigata* significantly had greater leaf number, possibly indicating that *B. laevigata* tends to have a strategy to absorb more light in high-temperature environments than *B. perstellata*. This idea may be further supported by the fact that the biomass allocation did not change from the ambient for *B. perstellata* but did for *B. laevigata*. Specifically, both the root:shoot ratio and root fraction were significantly decreased and the shoot fraction was significantly increased from the ambient. This difference might be explained by *B. perstellata* having a smaller optimal range of temperatures than *B. laevigata*, possibly because *B. laevigata* is found in a larger geographic range with a greater variation in climate (Kartesz 2015).

# **Plasticity in Rare vs. Common Species**

Just as there were some differences in the way *Borodinia perstellata* and *Borodinia laevigata* grew and allocated biomass in response to the environmental treatments, there were also some limited differences in their plasticity in response to environmental changes. Overall, the hypothesis that the rare *B. perstellata* species would exhibit less plasticity in response to environmental change than the more common *B. laevigata* was not generally supported within the context of light availability but was supported within the context of both water availability and temperature. Specifically, when grown in high light, *B. perstellata* exhibited greater plasticity of shoot biomass production, while in the high water and temperature environments, *B. laevigata* exhibited greater plasticity of stem height and numbers of leaves produced. This differential ability to change phenotypes in response to environmental change could reflect and explain the more restricted range of *B. perstellata* relative to the range of *B. laevigata*, as temperature and water availability would vary more across a wider geographic area. More

generally, these data provide some support to the overarching ecological idea that an important difference between rare and common plant species is their ability to acclimate to new environments.

#### **Conservation Implications**

In the recovery plan for *B. perstellata* (published during its previous classification as *Arabis perstellata*), it is stated that an important aspect of helping this species be reclassified from endangered to threatened is the determination of prime habitat conditions (USFWS 1997). By knowing where *B. perstellata* grows best, conservationists can better manage its habitat and evaluate sites that may require active management to maintain suitable conditions. My research suggests that *B. perstellata* has greater plasticity for shoot biomass production in high-light conditions than does common *B. laevigata*. This could indicate that *B. perstellata* may be equipped to deal with problems from deforestation that could increase the light intensity to these plants. Specifically, *B. perstellata* will be better able to increase shoot biomass, potentially aiding in producing seeds.

My research also suggests that *B. perstellata* was able to grow taller and larger and produce more leaves with increased water availability and temperature relative to its ambient conditions. As such, the warming of the earth's climate due to anthropogenic influences could benefit *B. perstellata*. However, the decrease in soil moisture likely to confound rising temperatures (Dai et al. 2004) may offset any positive responses to warming. These results indicate that it may be useful to condition ways to modify the moisture availability to natural populations of *B. perstellata* as temperatures warm.

## **Future Directions**

My experiment examined the effects of environmental treatments on rare *B. perstellata* and common B. laevigata as distinct factors. However, as the climate continues to warm and land-use change continues to occur, multiple environmental conditions will likely change in interacting ways. Future research analyzing the effects of multiple, interacting environmental conditions on the growth and plasticity of *B. perstellata* and *B. laevigata* would help to continue to elucidate the differential plasticity of rare and common species while also continuing to aid in conservation efforts for *B. perstellata*. Additional studies could be conducted in field settings that could include a focus on potential biotic factors that could influence species rarity, such as competition, predation, and pollination. Future research also might investigate growth and plasticity measures not included in this study. For example, the plasticity of specific leaf area (leaf area per unit leaf mass) might be particularly interesting to examine in response to environmental change. Since both species produced significantly fewer leaves in the high light environment, perhaps one species grew thicker leaves in response to a decreased need to capture more light (Gratani 2014). Other measures to condition for future study could include leaf-level physiology and reproductive effort.

#### Acknowledgements

I thank the National Science Foundation for funding this experiment as a part of a larger project to assess the differential plasticity between rare and common plant congeners (Award #165562 to J. Boyd). My work also was supported by a Student SEARCH grant from the University of Tennessee at Chattanooga. I appreciate my director, Dr. Jennifer Boyd, for her guidance on completing this Departmental Honors thesis.

#### References

- Adams, J. (2000). *Precious heritage: the status of biodiversity in the United States*. Oxford University Press on Demand.
- Albert, C. H., Grassein, F., Schurr, F. M., Vieilledent, G., & Violle, C. (2011). When and how should intraspecific variability be considered in trait-based plant ecology?. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*, 13(3), 217-225.
- Bevill, R. L., & Louda, S. M. (1999). Comparisons of related rare and common species in the study of plant rarity. *Conservation Biology*, 13(3), 493-498.
- Bloom, T. C., Baskin, J. M., & Baskin, C. C. (2001). Ecological life history of the facultative woodland biennial Arabis laevigata variety laevigata (Brassicaceae): survivorship. *Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society*, 128(2), 93.
- Bradshaw, A. D. (2006). Unravelling phenotypic plasticity–why should we bother?. *New Phytologist*, *170*(4), 644-648.
- Brown, James H. (1984). "On the relationship between abundance and distribution of species." *The American Naturalist* 124.2, 255-279.
- Colautti, R. I., & MacIsaac, H. J. (2004). A neutral terminology to define 'invasive'species. *Diversity and distributions*, 10(2), 135-141.
- Combs, J. K., Lambert, A. M., & Reichard, S. H. (2013). Predispersal seed predation is higher in a rare species than in its widespread sympatric congeners (Astragalus, Fabaceae). *American journal of botany*, 100(11), 2149-2157.
- Comita, L. S., Muller-Landau, H. C., Aguilar, S., & Hubbell, S. P. (2010). Asymmetric density dependence shapes species abundances in a tropical tree community. *Science*, *329*(5989), 330-332.

- CustomWeather, Inc. (2019). Ocoee, TN. Almanac: Historical Information. Retrieved from http://myforecast.co/bin/climate.m?city=643119&metric=true
- Daehler, Curtis C. (2003). "Performance comparisons of co-occurring native and alien invasive plants: implications for conservation and restoration." *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 34.1, 183-211.
- Dai, A., Trenberth, K. E., & Qian, T. (2004). A global dataset of Palmer Drought Severity Index for 1870–2002: Relationship with soil moisture and effects of surface warming. *Journal* of Hydrometeorology, 5(6), 1117-1130.
- Delcourt, H. R., & Delcourt, P. (1991). *Quaternary ecology: a paleoecological perspective*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Futuyma, D. J., & Moreno, G. (1988). The evolution of ecological specialization. *Annual review* of Ecology and Systematics, 19(1), 207-233.
- Gibson, D. (2014) *Methodsin Comparative Plant Population Ecology*. Oxford University Press, UK, 320 pp.
- Gratani, L. (2014). Plant phenotypic plasticity in response to environmental factors. *Advances in botany*, 2014.
- Kartesz, J.T., The Biota of North America Program (BONAP). (2015). *Taxonomic Data Center*. (http://www.bonap.net/tdc). Chapel Hill, N.C. [maps generated from Kartesz, J.T. 2015.
  Floristic Synthesis of North America, Version 1.0. Biota of North America Program (BONAP). (in press)]
- Katsanevakis, S., Wallentinus, I., Zenetos, A., Leppäkoski, E., Çinar, M. E., Oztürk, B., ... & Cardoso, A. C. (2014). Impacts of invasive alien marine species on ecosystem services and biodiversity: a pan-European review. *Aquatic Invasions*, 9(4), 391-423.

- Kende, H., & Lang, A. (1964). Gibberellins and light inhibition of stem growth in peas. *Plant physiology*, *39*(3), 435.
- Lavergne, S., Thompson, J. D., Garnier, E., & Debussche, M. (2004). The biology and ecology of narrow endemic and widespread plants: a comparative study of trait variation in 20 congeneric pairs. *Oikos*, *107*(3), 505-518.
- Lovell, J. T., & McKay, J. K. (2015). Ecological genetics of range size variation in Boechera spp.(Brassicaceae). *Ecology and evolution*, *5*(21), 4962-4975.
- Marchin, R. M., Bhandari, R. K., Wall, W. A., Hohmann, M. G., Gray, J. B., & Hoffmann, W. A. (2009). Are rare species less shade tolerant than common species in fire-prone environments? A test with seven Amorpha (Fabaceae) species. *Plant ecology*, 205(2), 249-260.
- May, R. (1999). Unanswered questions in ecology. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, *354*(1392), 1951-1959.
- Murray, B. R., Thrall, P. H., Gill, A. M., & Nicotra, A. B. (2002). How plant life-history and ecological traits relate to species rarity and commonness at varying spatial scales. *Austral* ecology, 27(3), 291-310.
- Pohlman, C. L., Nicotra, A. B., & Murray, B. R. (2005). Geographic range size, seedling ecophysiology and phenotypic plasticity in Australian Acacia species. *Journal of Biogeography*, 32(2), 341-351.
- Poorter, H., & Nagel, O. (2000). The role of biomass allocation in the growth response of plants to different levels of light, CO2, nutrients and water: a quantitative review. *Functional Plant Biology*, 27(12), 1191-1191.

- Preston, F. W. (1962). The canonical distribution of commonness and rarity: Part II. *Ecology*, *43*(3), 410-432.
- Pyšek, P., & Richardson, D. M. (2008). Traits associated with invasiveness in alien plants: where do we stand?. In *Biological invasions* (pp. 97-125). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Rabinowitz, D. (1986). Seven forms of rarity and their frequency in the flora of the British Isles. *Conservation biology: the science of scarcity and diversity.*
- Ruprecht, E., Fenesi, A., & Nijs, I. (2014). Are plasticity in functional traits and constancy in performance traits linked with invasiveness? An experimental test comparing invasive and naturalized plant species. *Biological invasions*, *16*(7), 1359-1372.
- Stocker, T. F., Qin, D., Plattner, G. K., Alexander, L. V., Allen, S. K., Bindoff, N. L., ... & Forster, P. (2013). Technical summary. In *Climate change 2013: the physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*(pp. 33-115). Cambridge University Press.
- Sultan, S. E. (2000). Phenotypic plasticity for plant development, function and life history. *Trends in plant science*, *5*(12), 537-542.
- USFWS (United States Fish and Wildlife Service; 1997). Recovery plan for *Arabis perstellata Braun*(Braun's Rockcress). Atlanta, Geargia, USA
- USFWS (United States Fish and Wildlife Service; 2019). Listed species believed to or known to occur in each state. Retrieved from https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp0/reports/species-listed-by-state-totals-report
- Valladares, F., SANCHEZ-GOMEZ, D. A. V. I. D., & Zavala, M. A. (2006). Quantitative estimation of phenotypic plasticity: bridging the gap between the evolutionary concept and its ecological applications. *Journal of ecology*, *94*(6), 1103-1116.

- Van Clef, M., & Stiles, E. W. (2001). Seed longevity in three pairs of native and non-native congeners: assessing invasive potential. *Northeastern Naturalist*, 8(3), 301-311.
- Van Kleunen, M., Weber, E., & Fischer, M. (2010). A meta-analysis of trait differences between invasive and non-invasive plant species. *Ecology letters*, *13*(2), 235-245.
- Vilà, M., Espinar, J. L., Hejda, M., Hulme, P. E., Jarošík, V., Maron, J. L., ... & Pyšek, P. (2011). Ecological impacts of invasive alien plants: a meta-analysis of their effects on species, communities and ecosystems. *Ecology letters*, 14(7), 702-708.
- Went, F. W. (1953). The effect of temperature on plant growth. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology*, *4*(1), 347-362.
- Williams, S. E., Shoo, L. P., Isaac, J. L., Hoffmann, A. A., & Langham, G. (2008). Towards an integrated framework for assessing the vulnerability of species to climate change. *PLoS biology*, 6(12), e325.

Tables									
Measure	Species	Ambient Water	High Water	Ambient Temperature	High Temperature	Ambient Light	High Light		
Root:Shoot	B. perstellata	$0.98\pm0.17$	$0.50 \pm 0.048$ **	$0.98\pm0.17$	$0.88\pm0.17$	$0.98\pm0.17$	$0.94\pm0.11$		
	B. laevigata	$1.53\pm0.39$	$0.49 \pm 0.050 **$	$1.53\pm0.39$	$0.69 \pm 0.20$ *	$1.53\pm0.39$	$2.89\pm0.95$		
Shoot Fraction	B. perstellata	$0.56\pm0.035$	0.68 ± 0.021 **	$0.56\pm0.035$	$0.58\pm0.033$	$0.56\pm0.035$	$0.54\pm0.034$		
	B. laevigata	$0.51\pm0.035$	$0.72 \pm 0.029 **$	$0.51\pm0.035$	$0.66 \pm 0.034$ **	$0.51\pm0.035$	$0.46\pm0.052$		
Root Fraction	B. perstellata	$0.44\pm0.035$	0.32 ± 0.021 **	$0.44\pm0.035$	$0.42\pm0.033$	$0.44\pm0.035$	$0.46\pm0.034$		
	B. laevigata	$0.49\pm0.035$	$0.28 \pm 0.029$ **	$0.49\pm0.035$	$0.34 \pm 0.034$ **	$0.49\pm0.035$	$0.54\pm0.052$		

*Table 1.* Mean root to shoot ratio, shoot mass fraction, and root mass fraction of rare *Borodinia perstellata* and common *B. laevigata* in response to different treatments following 15 weeks in controlled-environment chambers. Two asterisks denote significant differences in the means of the ambient and high resource availability ( $P \le 0.05$ ) and one asterisk denotes marginally significant differences ( $P \le 0.10$ ).

		Species				
Treatment	Measure	B. perstellata	B. laevigata	<i>p</i> -value		
	Stem height	$0.81\pm0.18$	$1.04\pm\ 0.21$	0.5		
	Number of leaves	$0.77\pm0.054$	$0.85\pm0.076$	0.45		
	<b>Root length</b>	$0.86\pm0.14$	$1.6\pm0.46$	0.17		
	Shoot mass	3.76 ± 1.54	1.59 ± 0.35	0.1 *		
Light	<b>Root mass</b>	4.93 ± 3.27	2.19 ± 0.79	0.4		
	<b>Total mass</b>	4.33 ± 2.45	$1.59 \pm 0.38$	0.22		
	Root:shoot	$1.1 \pm 0.20$	$4.05 \pm 1.61$	0.12		
	Shoot fraction	$1.13 \pm 0.13$	1.07 ± 0.22	0.82		
	<b>Root fraction</b>	1 ± 0.093	$1.2 \pm 0.17$	0.33		
	Stem height	2.72 ± 0.44	4.02 ± 0.54	0.09 *		
	Number of leaves	$1.03 \pm 0.044$	$1.71 \pm 0.11$	$\leq 0.01 **$		
	<b>Root length</b>	$1.23 \pm 0.15$	1.82 ± 0.27	0.11		
	Shoot mass	13.76 ± 4.46	23.74 ± 4.18	0.12		
Water	<b>Root mass</b>	5.74 ± 1.39	13.06 ± 4.92	0.24		
	<b>Total mass</b>	9.54 ± 2.42	16.79 ± 3.97	0.18		
	Root:shoot	0.48 ± 0.073	0.45 ± 0.078	0.85		
	Shoot fraction	$1.5 \pm 0.12$	$1.92 \pm 0.33$	0.31		
	<b>Root fraction</b>	0.62 ± 0.051	0.59 ± 0.060	0.73		
	Stem height	2.2 ± 0.30	$4.43 \pm 0.91$	0.048 **		
	Number of leaves	$1.15 \pm 0.091$	$1.75 \pm 0.15$	$\leq 0.01 **$		
	Root length	$1.22 \pm 0.17$	2.7 ± 0.78	0.11		
	Shoot mass	16.87 ± 5.60	26.6 ± 9.04	0.41		
Temperature	<b>Root mass</b>	14.87 ± 5.42	9.47 ± 3.42	0.4		
	<b>Total mass</b>	14.19 ± 4.63	11.19 ± 2.75	0.58		
	Root:shoot	$1.23 \pm 0.42$	0.77 ± 0.23	0.34		
	Shoot fraction	$1.22 \pm 0.14$	2.02 ± 0.52	0.16		
	<b>Root fraction</b>	$1.03 \pm 0.22$	$0.71 \pm 0.11$	0.19		

*Table 2:* Mean response coefficient measures of plasticity of all growth and allocation measures between rare *Borodinia perstellata* and common *B. laevigata* in response to different treatments following 15 weeks in controlled-environment chambers. Two asterisks denote significant differences in the mean plasticity between the two species ( $P \le 0.05$ ) and one asterisk denotes marginally significant differences ( $P \le 0.10$ ).



*Figure 1.* Height (A), number of leaves (B), root length (C), shoot mass (D), root mass (E), and total biomass (F) of rare *Borodinia perstellata* (open bars) and common *B. laevigata* (shaded bars) in response to light availability following 15 weeks in controlled-environment chambers. Bars represent means +/- 1 SE of the mean. Significances are reported if the mean trait in the high light is significantly different from ambient light conditions within each species. Two asterisks denote  $p \le 0.05$  and one asterisk denotes  $p \le 0.10$ .



*Figure 2.* Height (A), number of leaves (B), root length (C), shoot mass (D), root mass (E), and total biomass (F) of rare *Borodinia perstellata* (open bars) and common *B. laevigata* (shaded bars) in response to water availability following 15 weeks in controlled-environment chambers. Bars represent means +/- 1 SE of the mean. Significances are reported if the mean trait in the high water is significantly different from ambient water conditions within each species. Two asterisks denote  $p \le 0.05$  and one asterisk denotes  $0.05 \le p \le 0.10$ .



*Figure 3.* Height (A), number of leaves (B), root length (C), shoot mass (D), root mass (E), and total biomass (F) of rare *Borodinia perstellata* (open bars) and common *B. laevigata* (shaded bars) in response to temperature level following 15 weeks in controlled-environment chambers. Bars represent means +/- 1 SE of the mean. Significances are reported if the mean trait in the high temperature is significantly different from ambient temperature conditions within each species. Two asterisks denote  $p \le 0.05$  and one asterisk denotes  $0.05 \le p \le 0.10$ .